## University of Missouri, St. Louis

# IRL @ UMSL

**Dissertations** 

**UMSL Graduate Works** 

7-11-2018

# Indicators and Precipitators of Special Educator Satisfaction: The Role of Certification and Advanced Coursework

Jessica Spencer jessicalspencer@aol.com

Follow this and additional works at: https://irl.umsl.edu/dissertation

Part of the Special Education and Teaching Commons, and the Teacher Education and Professional Development Commons

#### **Recommended Citation**

Spencer, Jessica, "Indicators and Precipitators of Special Educator Satisfaction: The Role of Certification and Advanced Coursework" (2018). *Dissertations*. 777.

https://irl.umsl.edu/dissertation/777

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the UMSL Graduate Works at IRL @ UMSL. It has been accepted for inclusion in Dissertations by an authorized administrator of IRL @ UMSL. For more information, please contact <a href="marvinh@umsl.edu">marvinh@umsl.edu</a>.

## Indicators and Precipitators of Special Educator Satisfaction: The Role of Certification and Advanced Coursework

## Jessica Spencer

Ed. Spec. in Educ. Administration, December 2012, University of Missouri-St. Louis M.A.T. in Special Education, May, 2006, Webster University B.S. in Teaching Social Sciences, August, 2002, Brigham Young University

A Dissertation Submitted to The Graduate School at the University of Missouri-St. Louis in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Education with an emphasis in Teaching and Learning Processes

August 2018

**Advisory Committee** 

Patricia Kopetz, Ph.D. Chairperson

Michael Bahr, Ph.D.

Cody Ding, Ph.D.

John Heskett, Ed.D.

Copyright, Jessica Spencer, 2018

## **Abstract**

Special education teachers are leaving the education field at a higher rate than other education professionals. The annual attrition rate for special education teachers is estimated to be between 8-10% of special educators across the United States. These attrition rates are concerning, as they contribute to the shortage of quality special educators. Considering that an estimated 50% of special educators leave their positions within their first five years, researchers have conducted studies examining criteria centered on teacher retention and attrition. This study examined the findings of such studies, and explored the role of how teachers' certifications and obtaining advanced degrees influence special education teachers' sustainability and satisfaction levels.

## **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1: Introduction and Overview	5
Problem Statement	9
Conceptual Framework	12
Purpose Statement	14
Research Questions	15
Significance of the Study	15
Delimitations	16
Assumptions	17
Explanation of Terms and Educational Acronyms	17
Organization of the Study	19
Summary	20
Chapter Two: Literature Review	21
Introduction	21
Attrition	22
Preparation-Certification	23
Preparation and Programming	25
Merging and Integrating Programs	27
Graduate Degrees	30
Conclusion	34
Chapter 3: Methodology	36
Participants	36
Measure	38
Procedures	39
Chapter 4: Results	42
Research Question #1	46
Research Question #2	47
Research Question #3	49
Summary	50

	1	ı
4	4	ŀ

Chapter 5: Conclusion and Discussion	52
Research Questions	52
Findings	54
Findings Related to the Literature	
Surprises	56
Uncontrolled Variables	56
Limitations	57
Conclusions	58
References	60
Appendix A	72

## **Chapter 1: Introduction and Overview**

Special education teachers are departing the education field at a more rapid rate than their general education colleagues (Collie, Shapka, & Perry, 2012; Hughes, 2012; Lee, Patterson, & Vega, 2011; Ruetzel & Clark, 2011). Schools in the United States are currently facing the challenge of retaining qualified and skilled special education teachers. Estimations of teachers leaving the education field are approximately 50% within the first five years of teaching, with the annual departure rate averaging 13-15% (Hughes, 2012). Within the first three years in their profession, it is estimated that 30% of special education teachers are likely to leave their career. Special educators who are in their first year are 2.5 times more likely than their general education peers to leave their position (Plash & Piotrowski, 2006; Smith & Ingersoll, 2004). The annual attrition rate for special education teachers is estimated to be between 8-10% percent of special educators across the nation. Such attrition rates are concerning, as they contribute to the shortage of quality special educators.

In recent years, there has been a teacher shortage averaging nearly 29,000 certified special education teachers (Wasburn-Moses, 2005). Hiring and training new teachers can be very costly for school districts and that cost is amplified even further when it comes to the preparation of special educators. "The annual financial costs of recruiting, hiring, and training new teachers is staggering, with estimates of a total national replacement cost of \$2.2 billion per year" (Hughes, 2012, p. 245). In addition, teacher burnout rates are alarmingly high in special education, contributing to the shortage of special educators. Although definitions and results from attrition studies differ, special educators are more likely to exit the profession at higher rates than general

education teachers (Boe, Bobbitt, & Cook, 1997; Thornton, Peltier, & Medina, 2007). Beginning special educators are particularly at-risk for leaving (Brownell, Sindelar, Bishop, Langley, & Seo, 2002). Special education teachers transferring to general education positions is also a problem for schools and districts (Muller & Markowitz, 2003).

High numbers of special educators leaving the profession have led to studies of their job satisfaction levels. Some of these studies have examined factors likely to keep teachers in the education field. Hughes (2012) discusses the correlation between demographics and teacher retention in the education field as a whole. His findings state that women, who make up the majority of the teaching workforce, are more likely to leave the field; and men, who make up the minority, are more likely to stay. Furthermore, Caucasian educators are 1.36 times more likely to leave their professional positions than non-Caucasian educators. In regards to setting, elementary teachers tend to stay in the profession longer than secondary teachers. Mathematics and science teachers, along with teachers with graduate degrees, are less likely to remain (Hughes, 2012).

Researchers have studied factors and variables related to teacher satisfaction levels. Data have shown that certain variables directly relate to the motivation, engagement, and commitment to teaching. Collie, Shapka, and Perry (2012) gathered information on factors that negatively impact job satisfaction, such as workload stress. A noted variable is the importance of the role the principal plays in the special education teacher's level of satisfaction. However, teachers' perceptions of students' motivation and behavior were reported to have the most profound impact.

Leah Wasburn-Moses (2005) studied the importance of the role the principal plays in a special education teacher's level of satisfaction. Her findings included that those educators, who felt supported by their administrator, were more likely to stay in the education field. Beginning or novice teachers were reported to be especially susceptible to the demands of being new to the profession (Clark, 2012). Ruetzel and Clark (2011) stated that, "Many novice teachers enter the field of teaching with wide-eyed optimism, only to have their idealism dashed" (p. 96). They concluded that school leaders who invest in long-term training, support, and development in their profession encounter stronger retention rates among their faculty.

Multiple environmental factors that might lead to "teacher attrition" include role ambiguity, excessive paperwork, lack of resources, and unmanageable workloads. All of these can lead to excessive stress and the possibility of teacher attrition (Coman et al., 2012). A distinctive type of stress relating to the challenging demands of special educators is known as "teacher burnout", and is prevalent within the field of special education. "Burnout is the endpoint in the process of coping unsuccessfully with chronic stress" (p.345). This psychological syndrome can be visible across occupations that are known to carry extreme amounts of stress, such as positions in healthcare, human services, and in various positions in the educational field. There are three components of teacher burnout:

1) Emotional Exhaustion takes place when emotional resources are withdrawn, and educators feel like they can give no longer give of themselves;

- 2) Depersonalization happens when educators withdraw from their students and/or the work associated with teaching, and begin to embrace negative or cynical feelings toward their students; and
- 3) Personal Accomplishment, that diminishes as teachers feel less effective in their influence on students (Coman et al., 2012).

When teachers experience high levels of burnout, they often feel less sympathetic toward their students, and are more likely to experience problems with their personal well-being, their health, and their commitment to work (Fernet, Guay, Senecal, & Austin, 2012; Hakanen, Bakker, & Schaufeli, 2006; Swider & Zimmerman, 2010).

Researchers have determined that burnout rates are higher for special education teachers compared to general education teachers. In a study of 1,576 special education educators, 21% reported having left the education field entirely. Many of these participants indicated high levels of stress, which contributed to their decision to leave the education field. Other participants had similar thoughts about leaving their jobs at one time or another. Other factors associated with teacher burnout can include regular or frequent absenteeism, becoming less positive about the profession, attending less to instructional tasks, and withdrawing from students and other staff members throughout the school setting (Coman et al., 2012).

International studies around the globe report similar results of unpleasant emotions and feelings, leading researchers to believe that this problem is more common than in isolated areas or countries (Collie, Shapka, & Perry, 2012). Emphasized in current organizational studies, employees that have a more positive affect and well-being

are more likely to demonstrate stronger loyalty and dedication to their jobs, reducing the amount of burnout and quitting rates (Hamama, Ronen, Shachar, & Rosenbaum, 2013).

Job satisfaction in the education field can refer to a sense of gratification and fulfillment. More importantly, it can describe the degree to which the individual feels his or her needs are being met within their work. If teachers are experiencing a higher amount of job satisfaction, an increase is noticed in their overall well-being, motivation, and commitment to their teaching (Collie, Shapka, & Perry, 2012). Teachers who reported a larger network of support communicated higher satisfaction rates. In one study, 89% of teachers said they were very satisfied or satisfied with the instructional facets of their position. However, 67% also state their strong dissatisfaction or dissatisfaction with the non-instructional aspects of teaching. The amount of unwanted paperwork associated with teaching was mentioned by 47% of teachers who labeled themselves as dissatisfied or strongly dissatisfied (Berry, 2012). Although many studies have investigated the factors of teacher retention and career sustainability, there are few studies that have focused on the impact of attaining greater professional, special education preparation. We do not know much about teacher satisfaction levels and their correlation to teacher preparation and/or advanced coursework (Blanton, 2011).

#### **Problem Statement**

Researcher Christopher Day (2012) suggests that teacher attrition is the single largest factor contributing to high rates of teacher shortages, especially in mathematics, science, and special education. Most special education pre-service teachers enter the field with inadequate exposure to students with disabilities and with limited teaching experience. This indicates that the role of teacher preparation programs should be

analyzed with a more critical lens towards the education of all students. Teachers' self-confidence in understanding the skills needed as special education teachers seems to be highly connected to their apparent teaching efficacy (Lee, Patterson, & Vega 2011). Within Bandura's (1997) social cognitive theory, self-efficacy is emphasized as one of the most important predictors of human motivation, and is defined as "people's beliefs about their capacities to produce designated levels of performance and exercise influence over events that affect their lives" (Bandura, 1994, p. 71). Self-efficacy tries to explain and predict how people acquire and maintain certain patterns of behavior. As a set of beliefs where people create their ability to master desired outcomes, efficacy predicts how people choose activities and peoples' persistence to engage in activities when obstacles are presented, or there is a resilience to adversity (Bandura, 1997).

General educators with special education certification are more likely to be confident in their ability to teach students with learning or behavior difficulties in the general education classroom (Kearns, 1996). These teachers are less likely to request assistance in developing adaptations and are less likely to refer students for the evaluation process that qualifies students with a disability. Stainback and Stainback (1987) found the reverse to also be true. To strengthen the caliber of special education teachers, they need to have experiences in the understanding of regular classroom curriculum and methodology (Stainback & Stainback, 1987).

When it comes to finding relationships of attrition to degrees earned or the quality of teacher preparation, there are few studies available, so few conclusions can be drawn (Billingsley, 2004). Some researchers have discovered that few studies focus on the level of academic degrees to leaving or exiting the field. There are a couple of studies that

found that teachers who have more training were more likely to indicate they intended to leave (Cross & Billingsley, 1994; Westling & Whitten, 1996). Cross and Billingsley (1994) state that teachers with higher degrees viewed greater employability in professions that were nonteaching related, and therefore, concluded they were more likely to leave.

The same lack of research can be found in regards to those special education teachers who possess general education certification as well. In a survey given by McManus and Kauffman (1991), 402 teachers of students with qualifying disabilities found that nearly have of the teachers considered taking a job in general education during the previous years. As schools fail to make Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP) because of their special education populations, there is pressure to meet the demands of the state and federal requirement, which could lead to more and more special education teachers requesting to transfer to regular education positions or leave the field. Furthermore, there are currently many teachers in regular or general education positions who also hold a special education certification. Administrators and district leaders should explore the reasons why these teachers did not select to focus on special education (Thornton, Peltier, & Medina, 2007).

This study sought to identify the relationships of teachers who experience greater job satisfaction in their current roles with their certification and have completed advanced coursework. The data collected illustrated the importance or lack of importance the role of dual-certification and advanced degrees have within the teacher field, and whether special education teachers who attain a greater amount of professional education demonstrate the strongest career satisfaction.

#### **Conceptual Framework**

With the enactment of landmark legislation that impacted general education, as well as special education: The Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA, 2004), The No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB, 2001), and The Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA, 2015), the U.S. Department of Education emphasized the importance of educators working to further the practice of being highly qualified to teach in subject areas, including achieving dual certification in both general and special education, or to advance their own coursework to broaden their depth of teaching knowledge. *IDEA* (2004) outlined the importance of students with disabilities receiving their education, as much as possible, within the general education setting, with access to the general education curriculum. The No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 called for teachers to be "highly qualified" in the areas they taught. ESSA (2015), the most recently passed education law, stresses the importance of helping all students make progress, regardless of disability. To fully participate in the implementation of these requirements, it is necessary for teachers to pursue more coursework during pre-service and further professional development during their teaching careers. Both Stainback and Stainback (1987) and Kerns (1996) found that successful special educators have ample experiences and knowledge of general education classrooms, including curriculum, programs, and methodology. Stainback and Stainback (1987) also suggested that higher education institutions had the opportunity to guide educators in the collaboration process. When a more unified and comprehensive educational system is designed, then the individual needs of all students can be met, whether at the elementary or secondary level of school-based education.

In regards to merging general education and special education programs at the college and university level, Stainback and Stainback (1987) highlighted four major points. First, if the faculty knew the importance of preparing educators to work with students of all abilities, that is, those who are disabled and those non-disabled, a universal, teacher preparation goal would be for them to prepare the best educators who can teach all students. Second, institutions that only require one certification impede the integration of elementary and secondary schools. Preparing educators only in general education, or only in special education, ultimately leads to teachers being responsible for only those students for whom they have certification to teach. Educators who are dually certified are more capable in creating the Individualized Education Plans (IEP) that students in special education receive yearly. IEPs are created by professionals in education, along with parents, and guide the students to achieve his/her established goals. In determining the setting for students with disabilities, the school staff may be more prepared to place children in the least restrictive environment (LRE), the agreed-to, best in-school placement, when more teachers are dually certified, or have had further coursework (Stainback & Stainback, 1987).

Pre-service teachers who are better prepared to provide instruction across all types of educational areas are strongly influenced about what they experience, and will be better able to apply those instructional insights in the settings where they will soon be teaching (Kent & Giles, 2016; Stainback & Stainback, 1987). Kerns (1996) parallels these findings with ideas about existing barriers between special education and general education. She reports that time is wasted on the student's IEPs if strategies expressed in the document cannot be met due to the general education teacher's lack of experience

working with children with special needs. If both education fields focus on implementing effective strategies for diverse populations, further coursework that follows such focus will be a goal of those working with all learners. Kerns states, "Both general and special educators will need to become interdependent -- sharing knowledge and skills to benefit all students" (p. 308). The majority of special education teachers in today's schools are expected to work alongside with general education teachers in effort to support students from diverse backgrounds, while also providing specialized instructions for students with significant needs (Shepherd et al., 2016).

One way to ensure that the double-knowledge base is captured by all educators is to begin the pursuit of dual certification. Both parties would be more likely to feel more confident in their teaching skills if they received such training. General educators would feel more comfortable having students with disabilities in their classroom, and special educators would have knowledge and experiences of the general classroom that would benefit the students they serve (Kerns, 1996).

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this study was to discover if there is a relationship impact between the satisfaction levels of teachers identified within certification status, including those who have a single, special education certification, and those who have obtained dual certification. The same satisfaction data were also gathered and analyzed among special education teachers who have advanced levels of coursework and/or preparation. The overall satisfactory levels of current teacher-level staff were measured using a Likert-type self-assessment.

## **Research Questions**

Surveys were developed by the researcher in an attempt to gather information about the role of teachers' preparation and coursework. The researcher gauged career sustainability and job satisfaction levels by examining: 1) the influence on pre-service preparation; 2) the influence of post-graduate education; and 3) the implications of having dual certification.

The research questions for the study were the following:

- 1. Are special educators with certification in both general education and special education more satisfied than those special educators with only a special education certification?
- 2. Concerning those teachers who have dual certification, did they obtain their general education certification by completion of a traditional program at a college or university during the same time they received their special education certification? Was it obtained at a later time through completion of a post-graduate program? Or, was it obtained through an alternative certification process, such as a state-approved assessment?
- 3. Is the attainment of higher professional degrees (M.Ed., Ed.S., Ed.D., Ph.D.) associated with stronger job satisfaction levels among special educators in their current field?

## **Significance of the Study**

This research sought to find specific answers as to why some special education teachers leave their school-based positions, and other special education teachers stay in that environment focusing on the variables of certification and advanced

coursework. This study identified characteristics of teachers who experience greater job satisfaction in their current roles. Understanding what leads to job satisfaction among special educators, including how the role of certification and advanced coursework may play a part in teacher retention, will lead to more effective strategies to prepare educators. The findings from this study may guide colleges and universities in identifying the path to rethink or re-emphasize educator dual certification. These data could inform school districts in the hiring process. Also, districts could use these data to offer new ways for educators to receive further education and coursework to benefit their current professional placement.

#### **Delimitations**

The submission and approval from the dissertation committee and IRB was expected within one to two months. The study duration took about one month, since the responses were collected via electronic survey. After these data were collected, one to two months of analyzing the findings took place, along with communicating the results. The location of the study took place across multiple school districts in geographically Midwest, suburban counties across a metropolitan area. The sample of the study included teacher-level, special education staff from a variety of schools and educational settings in these areas.

A survey was designed using a Likert Scale to gather information on teacher satisfaction, along with answering dichotomous "yes" and "no" questions to help determine education level and when that education took place. Teachers surveyed were of random ages, genders, years of experience, classroom setting, and ethnicities. The survey was designed to differentiate between self-contained and resource teachers.

## **Assumptions**

The researcher assumed that:

- the data collected from participants was offered freely, and without pressure.
- the participants answered honestly and completely.
- the participants represented various educational settings and levels.
- the participants came from a range of socio-economic educational settings.
- the participants were working with students of various cultural backgrounds.
- the participants would experience fatigue while taking the survey, as questions were be limited.
- there were no errors in data entry.
- the research findings could be generalized to include all special education teachers in like geographic areas

#### **Explanation of Terms and Educational Acronyms**

Co-teaching: This describes a classroom situation where a special education teacher works collaboratively with a general educator in the general education classroom.

Disability: IDEA lists 13 disability categories under which 3- through 21-year-olds may be eligible to receive special education and related services. The disability categories listed in the IDEA are autism, deaf-blindness, deafness, emotional disturbance, hearing impairment, intellectual disability, multiple disabilities, orthopedic impairment, other health impairment, specific learning disability, speech or language impairment, traumatic brain injury, and visual impairment (including blindness).

Education for All Handicapped Children Act (EAHCA): This federal legislation mandated that students with disabilities should be educated, to the maximum, appropriate level possible, with their non-disabled peers.

Every Student Succeeds Act (ESSA): Signed into law December 10, 2015, it requires all participating states to submit a plan that includes educational components of: challenging state standards, academic assessments, accountability systems, and support and improvement opportunities.

Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE): This concept requires that all students with disabilities are entitled to a free appropriate public education with no costs incurred by the students' families, for an education that is deemed to confer meaningful, educational benefit for the student.

*Individual Education Plan (IEP):* created by professionals in education along with parents, and guide the students to achieve his/her established goals.

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA) of 1997: This federal legislation provided local and state school districts with funding for specialized individualized, education for students with disabilities.

*Inclusion:* This concept ensures that children have access, when appropriate, to the general education curriculum and within the general education classroom among their non-disabled peers.

Job satisfaction: Collie, Shapka, and Perry (2012) describe job satisfaction "as a sense of fulfillment or gratification where job-related needs are being met." They also emphasize that workload stress and teaching efficacy are both "directly related to teachers' sense of job satisfaction" (Collie et al., 2012). Satisfaction can be linked to any type of working

condition, where support relates to the job and to related student issues (Lee, Yeunjoo, Patterson, Philip, & Vega, 2011).

Least Restrictive Environment (LRE): This principle states that any student with a disability is entitled to be educated with non-disabled peers, to the greatest extent appropriate. Least restrictive environment does not always mean placing the student in the general education curriculum, but rather, in an environment that is inclusive to the greatest extent possible for the student, and in one that confers the most meaningful, educational benefit.

No Child Left Behind (NCLB): This federal law reauthorized the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA). It included Title I, a program supporting standards-based education reform, and focused on setting high standards and establishing measurable goals, both assessed by individual states and reported to the federal Department of Education.

## **Organization of the Study**

The first chapter is a brief overview about special education teachers and the problem of retaining them in the education field. The remainder of this study is presented in four chapters, along with a reference section and appendices. Chapter 2 offers a comprehensive literature review. Chapter 3 describes the research design and methods that implement the data collection process. The methodology used in this study includes tools used to gather these data, as well as a description the sample chosen for the study. Additionally, Chapter 3 focuses on data analysis, and the validity and reliability of the study. Chapter 4 presents an analysis of the compiled data; emergent themes are discussed. Finally, Chapter 5 presents and discusses the study's findings and includes

conclusions and recommendations based upon the results of the data analysis. The appendix section will feature documents created for this study, including a copy of the questionnaire, the introductory message to solicit study participants, and the IRB documents.

## **Summary**

The purpose of this study was to examine specific criteria related to career satisfaction levels among special education teachers, including the role of dual certification and advanced coursework, and the relationships these have on teacher satisfaction levels. This study examined the impact between these variables from participants within multiple Midwest, suburban school districts across a large metropolitan area. Participants consisted of teacher-level staff from a variety of special education settings and levels, and the data collected electronically through anonymous surveys. This research could provide future educators, colleges, universities, and school districts information worthy of their consideration to enhance their knowledge of how educators' certifications and obtaining advanced degrees influence special education teachers' sustainability and satisfaction levels.

## **Chapter Two: Literature Review**

#### Introduction

Teachers choose the education field for a variety of reasons, such as working conditions, health insurance, vacation time, and the intrinsic value of helping students. Once in their positions, teachers continually assess the benefits of teaching to the more undesirable aspects of their positions. Teachers leaving the field (or transferring to another school or district) is a form of turnover that other organizations only experience on a smaller scale (Hughes, 2012).

The most challenging aspect about the special education field is building a qualified workforce, and developing a work environment that keeps teachers involved and committed. For the last couple of decades, matters regarding special education teacher shortages and attrition have been worrisome to the administrators who recruit and supervise teachers. This shortage problem has dire implications for students with disabilities. The effects can also impact students taught, providing insufficient educational experiences and reduced levels of achievement for students (Billingsley, 2004). Hochbein and Carpenter (2017) conclude, "Understanding that teachers are the most important school factor associated with student achievement, researchers have devoted a considerable amount of resources to studying them." (p. 464).

In the past, and currently in some districts, special education continues to function as a segregation-based model, where the majority of students with disabilities are removed from the general education classroom. These students also have less access to general education curricula for at least part of the academic school day. This was based on the assumption that many students with disabilities may not benefit from complete

participation in public education. Advocates have embraced the advances of the 1960's civil rights' movement, including initiating legislation to enforce a more restrictive model. Due to the advocacy, a well-built movement has risen in the field of education to appropriately include students with disabilities in general education settings to the fullest extent possible. For example, around 55% of high school students with disabilities now spend 80% or more of the school day in the general education classroom. Higher education institutions that are preparing future teachers and administrators should vigorously research and consider these trends, continuously assess, and reconfigure programs to best meet the needs of the profession, so that teachers and students both receive benefits (Orr, 2009).

#### **Attrition**

The causes for special education teacher shortages are complicated. There are several types of attrition, such as leaving the teaching profession all together, or transferring to other educational positions. This could include teachers moving into the general education realm. Reasons special education teachers provided for leaving the field have been classified in the following areas:

- Employment issues: including superior salaries, job design or certification status
- Personal issues: including family, social and relocations
- Support: lack of administration and peers, lack of professional development
- Student: low motivation levels, disciplinary concerns, classroom behaviors
- Other: better job offers, retirement (Billingsley, 2004).

Special education teachers transferring to a general education teaching position are nearly 9 times higher than the reciprocal transfer process. Special education teachers leave for reasons similar to those of general education teachers. Both groups follow a U-shaped pattern associated with teaching experience, with those higher attrition rates seen at the beginning of the teacher's career and at retirement, although special education rates of leaving the profession are higher (McLeskey, Tyler, & Flippin, 2004).

## **Preparation-Certification**

Developing highly-effective teachers is an overwhelming undertaking (Shepherd et al., 2016; Delano, Keefe, & Perner, 2008). Teacher preparation programs face many challenges and scrutiny across the nation for their alleged inability to affect student achievement through successful teacher training. Some government officials question the relevance of teacher education, and suggest the possibility for alternative/more efficient means of increasing the supply of teachers, which could include alternative certification options or lessening the amount of time required to receive certification (Delano, Keefe, & Perner, 2008).

Inconsistency of content in teacher preparation programs is a major concern (Shepherd et al., 2016; Scott, 2017). Mainly, this is due to the variances in state certification requirements. For instance, instead of completing a university's teacher preparation program, individuals with a bachelor's degree may elect to complete a shorter alternative certification program through a state-certified school district. Some states might require a class or two, while others might require ten. This inconsistency is visible at both the undergraduate and graduate levels of certification (Shepherd et al., 2016; Delano, Keefe, & Perner, 2008). The problem of teachers fleeing the field has prompted

some colleges and universities to offer dual certification enrollment programs, or to offer a broader depth of classes; however, some states do not require certifications, other than special education, to graduate (Oyler, 2011).

Many states have the choice for alternate teacher certification, so universities need to respond by establishing alternative or shortened certification programs, or otherwise take the chance of losing their students. It may be complicated for a university to preserve the essential resources to carry on a teacher preparation program that provides content past the minimum content required by the state providing that alternative certification. Since the passage of No Child Left Behind (NCLB), the expansion of alternative certification options has had a remarkable impact on teacher preparation. Individuals often begin taking their coursework while they are already teaching or have only completed the minimal amount of coursework before entering their position (Delano, Keefe, & Perner, 2008). In 2003, Katsiyannis, Zhang, and Conroy encouraged policymakers to educational leaders to use caution when it came to offering alternative methods to obtaining teacher certification. They stated these methods might become "an institutionalized alternate to a comprehensive teacher education program" (p. 246). A study of thirteen alternative certification track program found that they were faster than traditional programs but did not adequately prepare teachers for the classrooms (More, Johnson, & Birkeland, 2006).

Another pressing issue for teacher education programs is the makeup of certifications awarded by each state. For example, some states utilize a categorical system, where special education teachers attain certification to teach students with specific disabilities, as opposed to other states that require teachers to become certified in

general education before they can teach in special education classrooms. These variations lead to vast differences among preparation programs throughout the United States (Scott, 2017; Delano, Keefe, & Perner, 2008).

## **Preparation and Programming**

Successful special education programs stress the importance of well-supervised, well-planned, and extensive field experiences, much like their general education counterparts. Higher education faculties also stress the value of collaboration between school personnel, faculty, and pre-service teachers. It is predicted that preparation programs that facilitate a high degree of collaboration between faculty members, and focus on instructional methods and information for addressing student diversity, will produce better outcomes for beginning special education teachers (Brownell, Ross, Colón, & McCallum, 2005). There is strong evidence that teachers trained effectively report less stress and exhaustion (Scott, 2017). General and special education teachers working in collaborative settings would both contribute to the responsibility of being role models of implementing inclusive attitudes (Dingle, Falvey, Givner, & Haager, 2004). As a result, a partnership between special educators and general educators would improve educators' capability of supporting access to the general education curriculum for all students. Pre-service teachers in both special education and general education should have ample chances in their coursework to collaborate, arrange and deliver instruction together (Shepherd et al., 2016; Delano, Keefe, & Perner, 2008).

Teachers need varying types of knowledge in order to be effective. Teacher educators should be aware of these different types of knowledge. It is best if pre-service teachers are well-informed in many areas, including content knowledge, curricular

knowledge and pedagogical knowledge. Ideally, teachers should know the content they teach, how the lessons they create lead to student learning, as well as the curriculum of their specific levels. Teachers ought to be aware of the interrelationships of content, and how to best incorporate them for effective instruction with all students, regardless of disability or learning needs. Pre-service special education teachers should also be required to have an extensive understanding of information associated with federal laws, especially the IEP process. They should widen their skills to select developmentally-appropriate adaptations in order to provide effective instruction (Morewood & Condo, 2012).

Educator preparation programs are charged with training future teachers to implement evidence- and research-based practices with fidelity, as well as to thoughtfully communicate and validate these practices for parents, general education partners, and various administrators (Delano, Keefe, & Perner, 2008). Isenberg (2003) states:

Recent research has documented some of the important ways that teachers' knowledge of the subjects they teach shapes their instructional practices. The more deeply teachers grasp the content they are teaching, the more they tend to emphasize conceptual, problem-solving and inquiry aspects of their subjects. On the contrary, the less knowledgeable teachers are of the content they are teaching, they tend to emphasize facts and procedures. (p. 16)

McLeskey, Tyler, and Flippin (2004) found that, for every general education elementary school teaching position available for entering teachers, 1.68 teachers graduated from teacher preparation programs. However, for every entering teacher

position in special education, only .86 teachers were adequately prepared. Despite current state and federal legislation having an enormous impact on teacher preparation programs, universities must make certain that this impact is not just mere compliance to the latest and ever-changing policies, but one that encourages preparation considered both substantial and of high quality. These preparation programs are expected to pass the compliance requirement mandated by individual state education departments. The programs must also address the challenge of guaranteeing that the next generation of teachers are able to provide students with the utmost quality of educational experiences by making sure students also have access to general education. Such knowledge of general education practices and pedagogy ought to be part of teachers' training at the college or university level, and not something educators eventually find out while on the job (Scott, 2017; Delano, Keefe, & Perner, 2008).

## **Merging and Integrating Programs**

There is still a major need to understand if, or how, opportunities to obtain subject-matter knowledge influence future special educators. General education research implies that teachers with greater subject-matter preparation achieve superior student outcomes when compared to graduates who lack that preparation. Special education researchers found that effective special educators are those who put into practice research- or evidence-based validated interventions (Brownell et al., 2005, p. 249).

In teacher education programs across the country, discussions are taking place between general and special education faculty about the characteristics and competencies required by both special and general educators in order to effectively instruct and reach a varied population of students. This discourse has, in some cases, evolved into designs of

new or modified programming of teacher preparation for both general and special education teachers (Shepherd et al., 2016; Dingle, Falvey, Givner, & Haager, 2004).

Teacher education operates with a standards-driven focus, just like elementary and secondary education. Teacher preparation programs develop curriculum around mandatory competencies or standards identified as essential for teachers in specific fields of knowledge. The lines between general and special education have become blurred, both in terms of implementation and teacher education. There is a need for a more-synchronized and mutual effort in the design and delivery of teacher education programs. Shared coursework for all teacher candidates, in both general and special education programs, is one way to address these common standards to benefit both types of professionals throughout their careers (Shepherd et al., 2016; Dingle, Falvey, Givner, & Haager, 2004).

Many teacher education programs commit to providing pre-service teachers with knowledge of the general education curriculum, and instruct them on skillfully facilitating student progress in core content areas. Providing field experiences and coursework that enable pre-service teachers to expand skills in executing efficient instruction is not enough. Special education teacher programs should also offer experiences that will allow pre-service teachers to foster an understanding of general education teaching methods, and the scope and sequence of the general education curriculum. A way to accomplish this goal is by intensifying or adding to the content of methods courses that focus on both general and special education fields. "As researchers identify strategies that are effective in teaching core content to students with extensive support needs in the general education settings, teacher education programs will need to

incorporate these practices into coursework and field experience" (Delano, Keefe, & Perner, 2008, p. 234).

Some universities have redesigned their programs and are now offering a merged model for preparation in both general and special education simultaneously. Merged and integrated program models typically have two approaches. In a merged program model, faculty in special and general education collaborate to design one program in which all teacher candidates obtain licensure in both areas. Merged programs begin through the extensive and thoughtful collaboration of faculty to revamp the teacher education curriculum and field experiences. The merged program style is seen more at the elementary school level of instruction, and is less frequently practiced by middle/secondary pre-service teachers. The integrated model has separate special and general programs, but the university faculty work together to develop sets of courses and field experiences where special education pre-service teachers can learn about general education coursework and vice versa. Students majoring in elementary and secondary education, and those majoring in special education, are coordinated so that they can easily add other licensures to their program of study (Fullerton, Ruben, McBride, & Bert, 2011). "Teacher training programs that continue to perpetuate segregation between general and special education by placing teachers on separate preparatory tracks with little prospect for collaboration fail today's pre-service teachers" (Orr, 2009, p. 237).

A teacher education program that incorporates technology, ELL and special education across the general education curriculum guarantees a program of consistency and connectivity. Given a growing movement for teacher preparation programs to move toward integrated or infused curriculum models, it is important for programs to have a

way to collect data on and analyze the scope and strength of content integration to maintain program reliability and consistency (Sands, Duffield, & Parsons, 2006).

Higher education could make a profound impact on special education if merging programs in fields of special education and general education, as touted by Sarason (1982):

School personnel are graduates of our colleges and universities. It is there that they learn there are at least two types of human beings and if you choose to work with one of them you render yourself legally and conceptually incompetent to work with the others....What we see in our public schools is a mirror image of what exists in colleges and universities. (p. 258)

There are foreseeable advantages to merging programs. All university staff could be brought together into a more integrated and cohesive system. Additionally, all elementary and secondary students could have their educational and related needs met in the mainstream of regular education, as much as their general education peers, because of the integrated coursework in their teachers' preparation. In a merged system, all school staff would be equipped to work with any student, whether they were gifted or disabled (Kent & Giles, 2016; Stainback & Stainback, 1987).

## **Graduate Degrees**

When compared to typical undergraduate pre-service special education teachers, returning graduate students are more-capable critical thinkers (Zascavage, Masten, Schroeder-Steward, & Nichols, 2007). Teachers registering for advanced degrees often

begin their coursework in master's programs with various backgrounds. These backgrounds could include years of experience and the variety of academic settings (White, Fox, & Isenberg, 2011).

Problems stemming from the purpose of the master's degree programs in education have been highly-debated in the United States, since the first master's degree in education was granted at Harvard College roughly 140 years ago. Perspectives on the purpose of master's study for teachers are changing, and are now starting to focus on the degree possibilities to be a means for more thoughtful methods of classroom practice and subsequent implications for career-long professional development, paving the way for it becoming a national priority (Haines et al., 2017; Selke, 2001).

There are multiple types of master's degree programs offered by universities nationwide. The master's of arts in teaching degree often has students enrolled who are seeking initial or additional content licenses, and are often professionals with a bachelor's degree in a content field. Traditional education master's degrees don't necessarily provide initial certification, but are designed for teachers already holding a teaching license. Generally, these students seek additional areas of certification, or hope to deepen their content area expertise (Selke, 2001).

A key focal point of the educational reform movement is advanced quality teaching that will develop the learning of the students. Improving the quality of teaching and teachers means reconceptualizing advanced professional development at the higher education level (Isenberg, 2003). The conditions, linked with the design of master's degree programs for practicing teachers, have been altered significantly over the years. For example, every teacher is responsible to new education standards set by local,

state and national organizations, as these agencies have also created new emphases on teaching content and professional expectations. Educator effectiveness is measured by what students are able to master, and teacher quality is determined by both content and pedagogical knowledge (Haines et al., 2017; Isenberg, 2003).

Educator learning and professional development illustrate that the most influential "learning opportunities for teachers are anchored in student learning, include high standards, are content focused, develop ongoing collaboration and networks across teachers, share common norms of beliefs, and provide in-depth, focused learning experiences that relate closely to the classroom" (Isenberg, 2003, p. 13). Teachers' personal experiences, as the origin for their professional development, offer important opportunities for them to learn to think in new and different ways. Authentic and engaging professional development for teachers provides opportunities for substantive intellectual discourse about research and theory associated with their teaching practice. "When these ideas are clear and compelling, teachers can apply them to their own classroom settings; when the ideas are too far removed from their practice, teachers will not use them to think differently" (Isenberg, 2003, p. 14).

The master's degree is a route by which teachers can redefine their roles as educators, and build finely-tuned expectations of succeeding professional development. Currently, working educators need to be producers as well as consumers of information. If teachers do not pursue effective professional development, education as a whole is at risk of becoming irrelevant when driven mainly by researchers who are no longer directly associated to the sphere of classroom learning and teaching (Haines et al., 2017; Selke, 2001).

Another way of enhancing the quality of teaching is to embed further certification into a master's degree program. Teachers taking graduate level classes could go beyond the requirements of initial certification, and gain more from opportunities to connect with university faculty who model collaboration techniques and teaching methods. Additionally, after initial certification, an option for certified teachers to obtain advanced training should also be considered. This is imperative, as there is a need for teachers with advanced training to become mentors to beginning teachers, and to provide better collaboration techniques with educational counterparts. Offering other certificate programs in additional areas provides enhancing skills and concepts over those taught in more basic initial certification coursework (Delano, Keefe, & Perner, 2008).

Teachers' skills can also be enhanced with advanced professional development. This can cover knowledge in the academic area educators are teaching, universal suitable pedagogy for the learners they are instructing, and comprehensive discipline strategies to make content knowledge accessible to students. Educational knowledge includes what teachers know and consider about teaching and learning that is not specific to a specific subject matter. Professional development occurrences that expand teachers' pedagogical knowledge need to be grounded in genuine teaching practices, and be reflective and collaborative. Developing inquiry-based practices and reflection are central to creating great professional knowledge. The ideal picture of professional teachers is one that encourages them thinks systematically about their craft, while maintaining focus on educational research and the experience of others. This will aid them while they work innovatively and collaboratively as a member of a professional learning community (Isenberg, 2003).

#### Conclusion

Teachers receiving more or advanced coursework, either as an undergraduate or graduate student, can produce a variety of benefits, that include learning new skills, and expounding upon abilities they have previously developed that will have a direct impact on their students. Higher education faculty, working together, could change perceptions, and identify all students as unique individuals, rather than members of a categorical group, such as a special education or a general education student. Working together with local and state education agencies to update certification and hiring practices might improve the process of having a more unified school system. In turn, these would make the task of developing strong higher education teacher preparation programs a workable reality (Stainback & Stainback, 1987).

Several studies have focused on stress and job dissatisfaction as factors motivating teachers to stay or leave their careers (Sutton & Huberty, 1984). The connection between satisfaction and job stressors has been a focus of research with special education (Eichinger, 2000). However, there seems to be some basic questions we still need to ask regarding special educator satisfaction. The first question is: Which group of teachers are most dissatisfied? If there is a clear pattern of difference, then a follow up, second question is: What are the sources of such dissatisfaction. There is little research completed on these questions especially in relation to the topics of this study (Stempien & Loeb, 2002).

The purpose of this study was to investigate at special education teachers' job satisfaction levels, coupled with their degree of education, including completion of additional coursework at the undergraduate or graduate level. This chapter outlined the

research methods used in collecting and interpreting data centered on the research questions previously presented in Chapter 1. It described the research design implemented, development of the data collection instrument, the population and sample selection, how the instrument was distributed, and data analysis procedures used.

This study addresses these three research questions:

- 1) Are special educators with certification in both general education and special education more satisfied than those special educators with only a special education certification?
- 2) Concerning those teachers who have dual certification, did they obtain their general education certification by completion of a traditional program at a college or university during the same time they received their special education certification? Was it obtained at a later time through a completion of post-graduate program? Or, was it obtained through an alternative certification process such as a state approved assessment?
- 3) Is the attainment of higher professional degrees (M.Ed., Ed. Specialist, Ed.D. or Ph.D.) associated with stronger job satisfaction levels among special educators in their current field?

### **Chapter 3: Methodology**

# **Participants**

The study group for this research project was comprised of special education, teacher-level, school-based staff currently employed across neighboring, Midwest suburban counties within a large metropolitan area. Of the participants, most were currently teaching in a self-contained or resource setting (193, or 61%). Over 60% (202) had been teaching 15 years or less. More than 68% of the survey participants were also certified in a general education area. Optional demographic information of the participants was also recorded. The majority of participants were female and Caucasian. All participants contributed voluntarily and with complete anonymity. Table 1 (see below) displays the demographic information of the participants.

Table 1

Demographic Characteristics of Participants (n = 316)

Demographic	n	
Gender $(n = 313)$		
	4.4	
Male	44	
Female	261	
Prefer not to answer	8	
Ethnicity $(n = 312)$		
African-American	12	
Asian	1	
Caucasian	283	
Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander	1	
Other	3	
Multiple Ethnicities	3	
Prefer not to answer	9	
Current Professional Setting $(n = 313)$		
Resource	83	

Self-Contained	110	
Co-Teaching	34	
Facilitator/Coach	27	
Other	59	
Years of Teaching Experience $(n = 316)$		
1-5	69	
6-10	56	
11-15	77	
16-20	60	
21-25	32	
26-30	13	
31+	9	
Primary Socio-Economic Status of School ( $n = 325$ )	*)	
(*Participants were allowed to select more than one		
Low	167	
Middle	124	
High	34	
Primary School Level of Participants ( $n = 337*$ )		
(*Participants were allowed to select more than one	option)	
Elementary	103	
Middle	63	
High	116	
Multiple Levels	55	

Electronic surveys were provided to and completed by the special education professionals using a random sampling format. The special educators work within multiple school districts across a geographical county. Random sampling is regarded as the best way to acquire a representation of a sample. Although no technique can guarantee a true representation, this procedure has a higher probability than others. Random sampling can also aide in making proportionate and meaningful comparisons between sub-groups (Gay, 1987).

This study used one of the most well-known research designs, called the "one-shot design-one," where one group of participants is studied at a single time. The

advantages of this design are its efficiency and the minimal cost in both resources and time needed to implement the study. As such, there was no need to track the participants over time, or to initiate the survey and data collection again (Vanderstoep & Johnston, 2009).

#### Measure

This survey was comprised of Likert-type questions, yes/no questions, and text boxes for participants to respond to questions regarding the yes/no questions associated with that item. For identifying and evaluating job satisfaction levels, a Likert scale was developed based on the work of Munir and Khatoon (2015). These researchers designed a 5-point job satisfaction scale with a final form of 20 statements that contained both positive and negative dimensions of job satisfaction. The scale yielded a split-half reliability of 0.84 and Cronbach's alpha of 0.86. Of these 20 statements, 19 items were kept, and wording was changed to a positive format (See Appendix A).

Single questions on the survey are consistent with being identified as Likert-type items, where participants will be given a scale to select a response that mostly identifies with their self-assessed answer. This survey was comprised of Likert-type items, instead of being described as a Likert-scale, because the researcher was not planning to combine the responses to form a composite measure. A Likert-scale was comprised of a sequence of four or more Likert-type items that were pooled together into a single combined score during the data analysis process. Collectively, these items were used to offer a quantitative measure of a temperament, character, or personality trait. Normally, the researcher was only interested in the composite score that represented the character or personality trait within most Likert-scales (Boone & Boone, 2012).

#### **Procedures**

Questionnaires may consist of open or closed questions that collect facts from attitudes of the respondent, as well as assessing other factors, such as a feeling or personality trait (Thomas, 2009). "The questionnaire is a versatile tool and is used in a number of different kinds of research designs. It can be tightly structured, but can also allow the opportunity for a more open and discursive response if required" (Thomas, 2009, p 174). Basic considerations to creating a good questionnaire are:

- 1. Keep everything as short as possible while still trying to gather important information. If possible, limit your questions, as the number of people who respond to questions will decrease proportionally with its length.
- 2. Be precise about what you are asking. Asking for one piece of information at a time is important.
- 3. Be precise. The only clarification the respondent will have is on the form in front of them. You need to be clear about what you are asking. For example, asking, "do you read newspapers?" as one question and "How often?" as another is better than just asking "How often do you read newspapers?"
- 4. Collect all the details, even if you think you might not need them. Sometimes factors that might seem important could have an added dimension with a little extra effort. These results could be beneficial especially in the analyses section.
- 5. Be aware of bias. You don't want respondents assuming there is any type of right answer. Most people want to look good, but you don't want your respondents to assume a right answer (Thomas, 2009).

Survey questions can be organized in a number of ways. Closed questions are often dichotomous or multiple-choice. Dichotomous questions, two-way questions, are usually answered yes and no. Given that, they can be used as tools for screening questions. Screening questions can help sort respondents or question items into groups. Multiple-Choice Questions contain two or more answers where respondents are able to pick one, or many options, as directed. These types of questions are helpful when it relates to facts surrounding the respondent (e.g., years of experience, demographic information). Rating Scale questions require the respondent to rate an attribute, attitude, experience, or something else along a continuum; only one box should be checked by the respondent per question. Scales are a set number of items and responses (Thomas, 2009).

The researcher collected all data from the electronic surveys. In order to maintain consistency and to increase the validity of the collection, the survey could have been accessed and completed using common internet browsers and all types of computer hardware, including mobile devices, such as smart phones and tablets.

Data collection began in January 2018, and was open for two weeks. This period was chosen so that teachers were able to begin and settle into the academic year. An email went out with a description of what the research was focusing on, and why data were being gathered. If teachers chose to participate, they were able to select a hyperlink that took them to the survey. Respondents were reassured of their anonymity in the original email. This, hopefully, helped them feel safer in responding more honestly about their opinions, and they could have participated in a location of their choice. The anonymity of web-based surveys potentially eliminates unneeded apprehension (Granello

& Wheaton, 2004). No email addresses, names or ISP information were collected. The surveying tool was developed within the Qualtrics management platform, and the link assigned to the survey was shortened to a tinyurl in the invitation to participate.

As volunteers, none were compensated for completing survey information, but did have an opportunity to enter into a drawing for one of four \$25 Target® gift card.

The Institutional Review Board of the University of Missouri- St. Louis approved this research. The data were collected by self-administered questionnaires using the survey platform Qualtrics. The following methods of data collection were used:

- The survey was sent out internally to special education teachers (grades K-12) for the largest district surveyed.
- Email addresses of special education teachers were collected from five other neighboring public district sites, and the invitation to participate was sent to each of them.
- 3. Compiled data collection from online surveys.
- 4. Sorted data by degree of teacher and certification.
- 5. Review responses for completeness.
- Completed data analysis using factor analysis, MANOVA, and other methods specified.

Respondents were able to skip questions. The survey was sent out to 1,541 special education teachers across six school districts and was open for participation for two weeks. Of those surveys sent, 19 returned due to a wrong address or having a full mailbox. A total of 316 (20.5%) special education, teacher-level staff participated.

#### **Chapter 4: Results**

For this study, larger sets of variables were broken down into smaller sets of data by using factor analysis. Factor analysis simplifies interrelated measures by using mathematical procedures to discover patterns in a set of variables (Yong & Pearce, 2013). Factor analysis is based on the idea that measurable and observable variables can be reduced to fewer latent variables (Bartholomew, Knott, & Moustaki, 2011). Factor analysis is useful in studies that have multiple variables, especially from questionnaires, to get an underlying concept and to interpret results (Yong & Pearce, 2013). Multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) was then used to compare the means of the variables between the defined groups to answer the Research Questions.

To assess the factor structure of the survey instrument, the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin Measure of Sampling Adequacy (KMO) was calculated. Values close to 1.0, which are considered high, usually indicate that a factor analysis may be helpful in data analysis. If the value is less than 0.70, the factor analysis might not be useful (Field, 2009). The KMO value (p < .001) for this survey instrument was 0.851. In addition, Bartlett's Test of Sphericity was  $\chi^2(df) = 276.37$  which indicated that sampling value was adequate (Field, 2009).

Factor analysis takes a larger set of data and reduces it into unique variable sets that are more manageable and easier to understand. It is recommended that factor analysis be conducted if the sample size is over 300, and the number of original variables or measured items is at least 5 (Comrey & Lee, 1992). Exploratory factor analysis was considered in this study, as there were no preconceived notions as to the number of dimensions or sets of variables.

Exploratory factor analysis focuses on observed variables, and how they potentially measure in each factor, the goal was to calculate if there were relationships, or which variables might be linked to each other (MacCullum, 2000; Cattell, 1973). Each variable was standardized with the maximum variance of 1.0. The proportion of variance is explained in the eigenvalue. Kaiser's Criterion is a method used in SPSS, and is the most highly utilized method for identifying the number of components to use while conducting a factor analysis (Conway & Huffcut, 2003).

With the Kaiser Criterion, only factors with an eigenvalue larger than 1.00 were kept. In regards to the job satisfaction survey, four factors with an eigenvalue of at least 1.0 were loaded, with a shared variance of over 60%. Factor loadings less than 0.4 were not considered. The higher the loading, the higher the item correlates with its assigned factor. Seventeen of nineteen items loaded onto four components. The four initially emerged from the principle factoring and were confirmed by a follow-up parallel analysis. These components were labeled: Opportunities and Recognition, Relationships with Colleagues, Benefits of Teaching, and Working Conditions. Two items did not load on any factor (items 5 and 6). (See Table 2).

The first component to appear was labeled Opportunities and Recognition, and 4 items (1, 2, 3, 4) loaded on this component (see Rotated Factor Matrix). Items were associated with recognition and opportunities for advancement and promotion. The second component contained 6 items (7, 8, 9, 10, 11, 12), which were items centered around "enjoying people with whom they work," "getting along with colleagues," and "maintaining those relationships," and is labeled Relationships with Colleagues. The third component, Benefits of Teaching, incorporates items focusing on "teaching skills and

creativity," "providing students with an opportunity to learn" and "getting along with students" (13, 14, 15, 16, 17). Working Conditions, the last component, is comprised of working conditions in the school (18, 19).

Table 2

Rotated Factor Matrix

	1	2	3	4
Teaching provides a good opportunity for advancement.	.904	.155	.091	.027
2. Teaching provides an opportunity for promotion.	.842	.169	.161	.038
3. Teaching provides me with an opportunity to advance professionally.	.665	.113	.194	.085
4. I receive recognition for my successful teaching.	.461	.156	.150	.315
5. Teaching provides a secure future.	.392	.067	.356	.198
6. The work of a teacher is pleasant.	.300	.253	.271	.176
7. My colleagues stimulate me to do better work.	.196	.680	.227	.140
8. I like the people with whom I work.	.037	.641	.331	.202
9. I get along well with my colleagues.	025	.608	.233	.116
10. My colleagues provide me with suggestions or feedback about my teaching.	.303	.588	.084	029
11. My interests are similar to those of my colleagues.	.194	.573	.070	.081
12. I have made listening friendships among my colleagues.	.078	.552	.171	.122
13. Teaching is very interesting work.	.147	.200	.723	.073
14. Teaching provides me with the opportunity to help my students learn.	.151	.170	.679	.164
<ol><li>Teaching provides an opportunity to use a variety of skills.</li></ol>	.288	.139	.606	.163

16. I get along with my students.	.026	.193	.544	.040
17. Teaching encourages me to be creative.	.189	.256	.487	.096
18. Working conditions in my school are comfortable.	.121	.176	.186	.926
19. Working conditions in my school are good.	.149	.215	.184	.820

Extraction Method: Principal Axis Factoring

Rotation Method: Varimax with Kaiser Normalization

a. Rotation converged in 5 iterations.

After completing the factor analysis, a parallel analysis was conducted to ensure data for the four factors were legitimate. The parallel analysis verified the existence of four factors. The cumulative explained variance of the four factors shared values of over 60%, with factor 1 at 16.72%, factor 2 at 16.50%, factor 3 at 15.764%, and factor 4 at 11.18%. With eigenvalues being compared, the four factors of Opportunities and Recognition, Relationships with Colleagues, Benefits of Teaching, and Working Conditions were confirmed.

A correlation matrix was performed to analyze the correlations of all the factors with each other to ensure the factor analysis was meaningful. Each factor should have correlations with other factors, but should not correlate too highly with each other (Netemeyer et al, 2003). This information is provided in Table 3 (see below).

Table 3

Descriptive Statistics, Cronbach's Alpha, and Scale Correlations for the Teacher Satisfaction Scale (n = 316)

Component	Number of Items	M	SD	α	OR	RC	ВТ	WC
Opportunities and Recognition	4	3.38	.34	.83	1.00			
Relationships with Colleagues	6	4.06	.35	.80	.38*	1.00		
Benefits of Teaching	5	4.50	.12	.78	.40*	.48*	1.00	
Working Conditions	2	3.91	.06	.92	.33*	.36*	.37*	1.00

*Note*. Abbreviations denote subscales: OR = Opportunities and Recognition, RC = Relationships with Colleagues, BT = Benefits of Teaching, WC = Working Conditions *Note*. Subtest correlations are Pearson Product-Moment Coefficients. \*\* p < .01.

### **Research Question #1**

Are special educators with certification in both general education and special education more satisfied than those special educators with only a special education certification?

Table 4 displays the means and standard deviations on teacher satisfaction for special education teachers with and without general education certification. (See below).

Table 4

Means and Standard Deviations on the Teacher Satisfaction Scale for Participants with

Special Education Certification Only and Special Education/General Education

Certification

	Special Education Only $(n = 98)$		• •	
	M	SD	M	SD
Opportunity & Recognition	3.49	.80	3.58	.85
Relationships with Colleagues	4.03	.58	4.07	.57
Benefits of Teaching	4.51	.41	4.49	.49
Working Conditions	3.95	.94	3.90	.96

The MANOVA was used (despite having unequal number of respondents) and consisted of one between-group factor (Special Education Only vs Special + General Education) and one-within group factor (Opportunities & Recognition vs. Relationships with Colleagues vs. Benefits of Teaching vs. Working Conditions). The *Pillai's trace* value was F(1, 308) = .67(ns). The MANOVA indicated there was no significant effect.

### **Research Question #2**

Concerning those teachers who have dual certification, did they obtain their general education certification by completion of a traditional program at a college or university during the same time they received their special education certification? Was it obtained at a later time through completion of a post-graduate program? Or was it obtained through and alternative certification process, such as a state-approved assessment?

The majority (71%) of participants with general education certification completed coursework at a college or university level in that general education field as opposed to just taking a state approved certification endorsement area.

Table 5 displays the means and standard deviations on teacher satisfaction for

special education teachers with and without general education certification (see below).

Table 5

Means and Standard Deviations on the Teacher Satisfaction Scale for Participants with

General Education Certification from Additional Coursework and those Receiving

Certification from an Assessment Only

	Additional Coursework $(n = 123)$		No Course On (n =	ly
	M	SD	M	SD
Opportunity & Recognition	3.53	.90	3.62	.78
Relationships with Colleagues	4.09	.57	4.04	.58
Benefits of Teaching	4.54	.41	4.41	.58
Working Conditions	3.93	.99	3.84	.93

A separate MANOVA was calculated for Research Question #2. The MANOVA consisted of one-between group factor (Additional Coursework vs. No Coursework/Test Only) and one-within group factor (Opportunities & Recognition vs. Relationships with Colleagues vs. Benefits of Teaching vs. Working Conditions). The *Pillai's trace* value was F(1, 209) = .14(ns). The MANOVA indicated there was no significant effect.

Of the four factors, all means were comparable across the groups (those with coursework completed and those without any coursework completed). Opportunities & Recognition, Relationships with Colleagues, Benefits of Teaching, and Working Conditions were not statistically different from one another.

### **Research Question #3**

Is the attainment of higher professional degrees (M.Ed., Ed.S., Ed.D., Ph.D.) associated with stronger job satisfaction levels among special educators in their current field? All degree levels were represented in the data with the highest number of participants having the highest degree of a masters. The data did not include those participants who indicated they were currently in progress of another advanced degree. For the purposes of this research question, only those completed degrees were counted. Although the degree level groupings were not normally distributed, their means were relatively close. Table 6 provides the means and standard deviations of the various levels of degrees (See below).

Table 6

Means and Standard Deviations on the Teacher Satisfaction Scale for Participants with Various Levels of Educational Degrees

	Highest Degree Level	M	SD	N
Opportunity & Recognition	Bachelor	3.67	.66	48
	Master	3.53	.87	233
	Ed. Specialist	3.55	.83	22
	Doctorate	3.55	.788	10
	Total	3.55	.83	313

Relationships with Colleagues	Bachelor	4.04	.57	48
	Master	4.08	.56	233
	Ed. Specialist	3.90	.61	22
	Doctorate	3.85	.81	10
	Total	4.06	.58	313
Benefits of Teaching	Bachelor	4.46	.41	48
	Master	4.49	.49	233
	Ed. Specialist	4.49	.37	22
	Doctorate	3.85	.81	10
	Total	4.50	.47	313
Working Conditions	Bachelor	3.85	.92	48
	Master	3.91	.966	233
	Ed. Specialist	3.97	.906	22
	Doctorate	4.10	1.17	10
	Total	3.91	.95	313

The MANOVA was used again and consisted of one-between group factor (Bachelor's Degree vs. Master's Degree vs. Ed. Specialist Degree vs. Doctorate Degree) and one-within group factor (Opportunities & Recognition vs. Relationships with Colleagues vs. Benefits of Teaching vs. Working Conditions). The *Pillai's trace* values found were F(3, 924) = 1.26(ns). The MANOVA indicated there was no significant effect.

## **Summary**

This chapter introduced an overview of the procedures used in the data analysis of the survey results. A factor analysis was conducted with the survey items that loaded the four main factors of Opportunities and Recognition, Relationships with Colleagues,

51

Benefits from Teaching, and Working Conditions. The main focus of the study was to determine if there was any significance between specified groups of special educators.

The data analysis indicated there were no statistically significant differences in job satisfaction between those special educators with general education certification and those without. There were no statistically significant differences among special educators that received general education certification from only taking an assessment and those who also took advanced coursework. Furthermore, in regards to special educators with advanced degrees, there were no statistically significant differences among various degree levels. With all of the research questions, Levine's Test was never significant, thus indicating equal variances despite unequal sample sizes.

#### **Chapter 5: Conclusion and Discussion**

### **Research Questions**

The research questions for this study are the following:

- 1. Are special educators with certification in both general education and special education more satisfied than those special educators with only a special education certification?
- 2. Concerning those teachers who have dual certification, did they obtain their general education certification by completion of a traditional program at a college or university during the same time they received their special education certification? Was it obtained at a later time through completion of a post-graduate program? Or, was it obtained through an alternative certification process, such as a state-approved assessment?
- 3. Is the attainment of higher professional degrees (M.Ed., Ed.S., Ed.D., Ph.D.) associated with stronger job satisfaction levels among special educators in their current field?

Researches have spent significant time studying factors related to educator satisfaction levels (Collie, Shapka, & Perry, 2012; Wasburn-Moses, 2005; Hughes, 2012). Special education teachers are departing from the field at a more rapid rate than their general education peers (Collie, Shapka, & Perry, 2012; Hughes, 2012; Lee, Patterson, & Vega, 2011; Ruetzel & Clark, 2011). Although there are numerous studies relating to teacher job satisfaction, this research focused on job satisfaction levels of special educators in regards to attained certification and degree level as there is a lack of this information available (Billingsley, 2004).

Although the factors had been identified previously, this study focused on how special education teachers rate their own satisfaction levels. Given a Likert scale focusing on four main themes, *Opportunities and Recognition, Relationships with Colleagues, Benefits from Teaching,* and *Working Conditions*, teacher-level special education staff were able to report their satisfaction levels. The study yielded the following conclusions:

- 1) Special education teacher-level staff that also have their general education certification do not report themselves as having higher satisfaction levels than their colleagues that do not have general education certification;
- 2) With regards to those teachers with general education, those taking extra coursework for certification do not report higher satisfaction levels than their peers that only took an assessment for such certification; and
- 3) Teachers with various degree levels (Bachelors, Master, Educational Specialist, Doctorate) do not report higher satisfaction levels in any of the specified levels, or across any of these groups.

### **Summary of the Study**

Schools cope with teachers leaving the education field, and researchers have spent significant time studying factors related to educator satisfaction levels (Collie, Shapka, & Perry, 2012; Wasburn-Moses, 2005; Hughes, 2012). Special education teachers are departing from the field at a more rapid rate than their general education peers (Collie, Shapka, & Perry, 2012; Hughes, 2012; Lee, Patterson, & Vega, 2011; Ruetzel & Clark, 2011). Although there are numerous studies relating to teacher job satisfaction, this study explored on job satisfaction levels of special educators in regards to certification

and degree level.

Studies on teacher retention, and findings related to data on that subject suggested that there were a variety of factors relating to educator dissatisfaction. Data have shown that certain variables directly relate to the motivation, engagement, and commitment to teaching (Collie, Shapka, & Perry, 2012). The literature offered the common reasons for educator dissatisfaction include the role administration plays in supporting the teacher, student behaviors, and unmanageable workloads including factors such as excessive paperwork and lack of resources (Coman et al., 2012). Studies regarding advanced coursework for educators, including advanced degrees and additional certification, suggested that when determining the setting for students with disabilities, the school staff may be more prepared to place children in the least restrictive environment (LRE), the agreed-to, best in-school placement, when more teachers are dually certified, or have had further coursework (Stainback & Stainback, 1987).

#### **Findings**

The study surveyed 316 special education teacher-level staff comprised of K-12 special education classroom teachers and instructional coaches. All participants were currently employed in suburban, public school settings, and come reported a variety of demographical backgrounds.

The study found that there were no statistical significances among any of the independent and dependent variables in any of the research questions. Ultimately, each research question regarding job satisfaction levels were answered:

1) There is no significant relationship between those special education teachers with

- and without general education certification.
- 2) Of those special educators with additional certification in a general education area, there was no significant relationship between those who received general education certification from only taking a certification assessment and those who also took advanced or additional coursework.
- 3) Regarding special educators, there was no statistical significance between those teachers with advanced degrees and those without, including multiple levels of advanced degrees.

Thus, it was determined that there was no statistical significance when comparing responses between groups identified in each research question. Of note, are the relatively high levels of job satisfaction levels by participants overall. Within each group, regardless of the factor, teachers rated themselves within high levels of satisfaction, exceeding the middle or neutral ranking.

#### **Findings Related to the Literature**

As the literature reviewed discussed numerous factors related to educator satisfaction and retention, the analysis of this study, found no significant differences between groups studied. However, as a self-administered educator satisfaction scale, there was no measurement of topics that explored the effectiveness of impact that survey participants were experiencing in the classroom.

The results of this study have implications for future research in the area of educator job satisfaction, on both individual and organizational levels. Individually, teachers self-reported their satisfaction levels, and the researcher acknowledges that each teacher has a specific sphere of influence. At an organizational level, district

administrator could use these data to look at trends across many teachers. This research was based on Stainback and Stainback's (1987) work around determining the setting for students with disabilities, focusing on the school staff being more prepared to place children in the least restrictive environment (LRE), when more teachers are dually certified, or have had further coursework (Stainback & Stainback, 1987). The results of this study indicate that special education teachers report similar satisfaction levels regardless of certification status or degree level. However, there are many other factors that could impact satisfaction levels among these educators.

# **Surprises**

The number of participants completing the survey was very encouraging. The response rate was only 20.5%, however, a total number of 316 professionals responded to the questionnaire. Although there was only a response rate close to a quarter of those receiving an invitation, currently educators receive many different types of surveys, and they could be tired from completing them. Another, more poignant surprise was the actual outcome of the data, in that it showed there was no distinction between satisfaction levels in the survey groupings.

#### **Uncontrolled Variables**

Regarding the question on the survey pertaining to advanced degrees, there were a few participants who likely misunderstood the meaning of an Educational Specialist degree. In their answers, they selected that they had this degree, but noted an area of certification or endorsement as the type. Thus, such responses were only given the highest status of a Master's Degree because there was not an actual Specialist Degree completed.

#### Limitations

Although there were few threats to validity, possible internal validity threats could include the maturation of participants. Teachers might have been more inclined to report more or less job satisfaction as they become more experienced in the teaching profession.

There might also be a difference based upon the teacher's current educational setting.

Possible external validity threats might have included interaction of history and treatment effects. Teachers generally experience "burn-out" at various times of the year, and the data could reflect their attitudes toward their jobs during these times. For example, teachers might report more satisfaction with their positions right before summer break, or at the beginning of the school year (Thorndike, 1997). To limit this, these data were collected through a two-week period of time in the middle of the school year. Although these threats are acknowledged as only possibilities, other internal and external validity concerns were not predicted by the researcher. There was minimal risk for participants in the study. The study was conducted anonymously, at will, and offered non-threatening questions. Confidentiality and privacy are extremely important as to ensure honest responses. To minimize unpredicted problems, a pilot study was completed with a smaller group of teachers, so that alterations could be made to the survey before the main study commenced. Data analysis was also conducted in the pilot to anticipate the survey questions accurately measuring data centered on the research questions.

Self-reported data are collected by inviting participants to answer questions individually on their own time. This is usually done by carrying out a questionnaire or survey. The primary advantage of the self-report approach is the efficiency with which

data can be collected. The main drawback of an all self-reported measure is that the researcher must rely on the participants' reports of their own attitudes, thoughts, or behaviors. Researchers have been aware for a long time that people have an inclination to report their behaviors and manners in a positive light and are faced with the chance that self-reports will generate inaccurate responses. However, self-reporting is an influential and flexible way to collect information that allows researchers to assess many aspects of a person's world (Vanderstoep & Johnston, 2009).

An additional limitation is that only two items loaded within the Working Conditions factor. Further research could include additional items added to the scale to enhance this category.

#### **Conclusions**

Although there was no significant difference found among groups studied, there were quite a few options for additional research. For example, it could be beneficial to use the data collected to breakdown satisfaction levels between educator demographics (i.e., ethnicity, years of experience) or the setting in which they teach (i.e., elementary vs. secondary, self-contained vs resource). Another option for additional research would be to develop a survey that would focus deeper into the four loaded factors from the data collected. For example, developing a survey based solely on Working Conditions or the Benefits of Teaching, might give more insight into those factors. Lastly, this scale only measured self-assessed job satisfaction levels. Further research could be conducted comparing these data to actual educator or student performance. Although there is no statistical significance among these groups in relation to their job satisfaction levels, there is a possibility that the factors in this study might play a role in the variables studied by

other researchers. Finally, the literature provides factors such as "excessive paperwork" and "lack of administrator support", among others, which are areas not included in this study. Additional research could combine or add to this existing scale questions or statements regarding these factors. An example might be adding a statement to the Likert scale such as "I feel supported by my administrator" to include in the satisfaction data analysis. This information, along with the teachers' satisfaction scales, could provide a better understanding of teacher attrition or retention, and the major contributions to teachers leaving the field.

Based on these findings, there remain questions regarding the satisfaction levels of those with advanced degrees and additional certification. Such questions remain, as this study showed no significant difference between the groups surveyed, other variables might be introduced that would show something different. Some of these variables could include education setting (both building level and classroom setting), student socioeconomic status, number of years of teaching experience, race or gender of the teacher, and so on. Higher education leadership, school administration, and boards of education would benefit from knowing that this study was only a small portion of the research dedicated to better understanding around special educator job satisfaction levels.

#### References

- Armstrong, J. S., & Overton, T. S. (1977). Estimating nonresponse bias in mail surveys.

  \*\*Journal of Marketing Research, XIV(August 1977), 396-402.
- Bandura, A. (1994). Self-efficacy. In V. S. Ramachaudran (Ed.), *Encyclopedia of human behavior* (Vol. 4, pp. 71-81). New York: Academic Press. (Reprinted in Friedman [Ed.], *Encyclopedia of mental health*. San Diego: Academic Press, 1998).
- Bandura, A. (1997). *Self-efficacy: The exercise of control*. New York: W. H. Freeman & Company.
- Barnette, J. (2000). Effects of stem and Likert response option reversals on survey internal consistency: If you feel the need, there is a better alternative to using those negatively worded stems. *Educational and Psychological Measurement*, 60(3), 361-70.
- Bartholomew, D., Knotts, M., Moustaki, I. (2011). *Latent variable models and factor analysis: A unified approach.* (3rd ed.). West Sussex, UK: John Wiley & Sons.
- Bartholomew, T., & Brown, J. (2012). Mixed methods, culture, and psychology: A review of mixed methods in culture-specific psychological research.

  International Perspectives in Psychology: Research, Practice, Consultation, 1(3), 177-190. doi:10.1037/a0029219
- Berry, A. B. (2012). The relationship of perceived support to satisfaction and commitment for special education teachers in rural areas. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 31(1), 3-14.

- Billingsley, B. S. (2004). Special education teacher retention and attrition: A critical analysis of the research literature. *Journal of Special Education*, *38*(1), 39-55.
- Blanton, L. P., & Pugach, M. C. (2011). Using a classification system to probe the meaning of dual licensure in general and special education. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 34(3), 219-234.
- Boe, E., Bobbitt, S., & Cook, L. (1997) Wither didst thou go? Retention, reassignment, migration, and attrition of special and general education teachers from a national perspective. *The Journal of Special Education*, *30*, 390-411.
- Boone Jr., H., & Boone, D. (2012). Analyzing Likert data. *Journal of Extension*, 50(2), 30.
- Borko, H. (2004). Professional development and teacher learning: Mapping the terrain. *Educational Researcher*, 33(8), 3–15.
- Brownell, M. T., Ross, D. D., Colon, E. P., & McCallum, C. L. (2005). Critical features of special education teacher preparation: A comparison with general teacher education. *Journal of Special Education*, *38*(4), 242-252.
- Brownell, M., Sindelar, P., Bishop, A., Langley, L., & Seo, S. (2002). Special education teacher supply and teacher quality: The problems, the solutions. *Focus on Exceptional Children*, 35(2), 1-16.
- Cattell, R.B. (1973). Factor Analysis. Westport, CT: Greenwood Press.
- Clark, S. (2012). The plight of the novice teacher. *The Clearing House*, 85, 197-200.

- Clarke, D., & Hollingsworth, H. (2002). Elaborating a model of teacher professional growth. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, *18*(8), 947-967. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0742-051X(02)00053-7.
- Collie, R. J., Shapka, J. D., & Perry, N. E. (2012). School climate and social–emotional learning: Predicting teacher stress, job satisfaction, and teaching efficacy. *Journal Of Educational Psychology*, *104*(4), 1189-1204.
- Coman, D., Alessandri, M., Gutierrez, A., Novotny, S., Boyd, B., Hume, K., Sperry., L., & Odom, S. (2012). Commitment to classroom model philosophy and burnout symptoms among high fidelity teachers implementing preschool programs for children with autism spectrum disorders. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 43, 345-360. doi: 10.1007/s10803-012-1573-1
- Comrey, A., & Lee, H. (1992). A first course in factor analysis. Hillsdale, NJ: Erlbaum.
- Conway, J. & Huffcut, A. (2003). A Review and Evaluation of Exploratory Factor

  Analysis Practices in Organizational Research. *Organizational Research Methods*, 6(2), April, 2003 147-168. DOI: 10.1177/1094428103251541
- Corcoran, T. C. (1995). Helping teachers teach well: Transforming professional development. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania.
- Creswell, J. (2002). Educational research: Planning, conducting and evaluating quantitative and qualitative approaches to research. Upper Saddle River, NJ: Merrill/Pearson Education.
- Creswell, J., & Plano Clark, V. (2011). *Designing and conducting mixed methods* research (2nd ed.). Los Angeles, CA: Sage.

- Croasmun, J. T., & Ostrom, L. (2011). Using Likert-type scales in the social sciences. *Journal of Adult Education*, 40(1), 19-22.
- Day, C. (2012). New Lives of Teachers. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 39(1), 7-26.
- De Neve, D., Devos, G., & Tuytens, M. (2015). The importance of job resources and self-efficacy for beginning teachers' professional learning in differentiated instruction.

  Teaching and Teacher Education, 47, 30-41.
- Delano, M. E., Keefe, L., & Perner, D. (2008). Personnel preparation: Recurring challenges and the need for action to ensure access to general education. *Research & Practice for Persons with Severe Disabilities*, 33(1), 232-240.
- Dingle, M., Falvey, M. A., Givner, C. C., & Haager, D. (2004). Essential special and general education teacher competencies for preparing teachers for inclusive settings. *Issues in Teacher Education*, *13*(1), 35-50.
- Eichinger, J. (2000). Job stress and satisfaction among special education teachers: Effects of gender and social role orientation. International Journal of Disability,

  Development, and Education, 47, 399–412.
- Fernet, C., Guay, F., Senecal, C., & Austin, S. (2012). Predicting intra individual changes in teacher burnout: The role of 'perceived school environment and motivational factors. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 28, 514–525.
- Field, A. (2009) Discovering Statistics Using SPSS. 3rd Edition, Sage Publications Ltd., London.

- Fullerton, A., Ruben, B. J., McBride, S., & Bert, S. (2011). Development and design of a merged secondary and special education teacher preparation program. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 38(2), 27-44.
- Garet, M. S., Porter, A. C., Desimone, L., Birman, B. F., & Yoon, K. S. (2001). What makes professional development effective? Results from a national sample of teachers. *American Educational Research Journal*, 38(4), 915–945.
- Gay, L. (1987). Educational Research: Competencies for analysis and application (3<sup>rd</sup> ed.). Columbus, OH: Merrill.
- Granello, D. H., & Wheaton , J. E. (2004). On-line data collection: Strategies for research. *Journal of Counseling and Development*, 82, 387-393.
- Hamama, L., Ronen, T., Shachar, K., & Rosenbaum M. (2013). Links between stress, positive and negative affect and life satisfaction among teachers in special education schools. *Journal of Happiness Studies*, *14*(3), 731-751.
- Hastie, T. J., Tibshirani, R. J., and Friedman, J. (2001). The Elements of Statistical Learning:

  Data Mining, Inference, and Prediction. New York: Springer-Verlag.
- Haines, S., Kervick, C., Shepherd, K., & Levitt, M. (2017). Enhancing quality: Listening to participant voices to improve our master's program in special education. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 66, 24-32.
- Hakanen, J. J., Bakker, A. B., & Schaufeli, W. B. (2006). Burnout and work engagement among teachers. *Journal of School Psychology*, 43, 495–513.
- Hill, H. C. (2007). Learning in the teaching workforce. The Future of Children, 17, 111–127.

- Hochbein, C., & Carpenter, B. (2017). Teacher migration: Extension and application of the population ecology model to explore teacher transfers in a reform environment. *Education and Urban Society*, 49(5), 459-485.
- Hughes, G. (2012). Teacher retention: Teacher characteristics, school characteristics, organizational characteristics, and teacher efficacy. *Journal of Educational Research*, 105(4), 245-255.
- Isenberg, J. (2003). Using national board standards to redesign master's degrees for teachers: A guide for institutions of higher education. National Board for Professional Teaching Standards. Arlington, VA. (Eric Document Reproduction Service No. ED 475 774).
- Jamieson, S. (2004). Likert scales: how to (ab)use them. *Medical Education*, 38(12), 1212-1218.
- Jick, T. D. (1979). Mixing qualitative and quantitative methods: Triangulation in action.

  \*Administrative Science Quarterly, 24(4), 602-611.
- Johnson, S. M., & Birkeland, S. (2003). Pursuing a "sense of success": New teachers explain their career decisions. American Educational Research Journal, 40, 581–617.
- Jolliffe, I. T. (2004). Principal Component Analysis, 2nd ed. New York: Springer.
- Katsiyannis, A., Zhang, D., & Conroy, M. A. (2003). Availability of special education teachers. *Remedial and Special Education*, 24, 246-253.

- Kent, A.M., & Giles, R.B. (2016). Dual certification in general and special education:

  What is the role of field experience in preservice teacher preparation. *The Professional Educator*, 40(2). 18-31.
- Kerns, G. M. (1996). Preparation for role changes in general education and special education: dual certification perspectives. *Education*, *117*, 306-315.
- Kristensen, T. S., Borritz, M., Villadsen, E., & Christensen, K. B. (2005). The

  Copenhagen Burnout Inventory: A new tool for the assessment of burnout. *Work*& Stress, 19, 192–207.
- Lee, Y., Patterson, P. P., & Vega, L. A. (2011). Perils to self-efficacy perceptions and teacher-preparation quality among special education intern teachers. *Teacher Education Quarterly*, 38(2), 61-76.
- Lester, P.E. (1987). Development and Factor Analysis of the Teacher Job Satisfaction

  Questionnaire. Educational and Psychological Measurement. 47, (223-233).
- Little, J. W. (1993). Teachers' professional development in a climate of educational reform. Educational *Evaluation and Policy Analysis*, *15*(2), 129–151.
- MacCullum, A. J. (2000). Applications of structural equation modeling in psychological research. *Annual Review of Psychology*, *51*(201-226).
- McLeod, S. A. (2008). Likert scale. Retrieved from http://www.simplypsychology.org/Likert-scale.html

- McLeskey, J., Tyler, N. C., & Flippin, S. (2004). The supply of and demand for special education teachers: A review of research regarding the chronic shortage of special education teachers. *Journal of Special Education*, 38(1), 5-21.
- McManus, M. E., & Kauffman, J. M. (1991). Working conditions of teachers of students with behavioral disorders: A national survey. *Behavioral Disorders*, *16*, 247–259.
- Morewood, A., & Condo, A. (2012). A preservice special education teacher's construction of knowledge: Implications for coursework and retention in the field. *Rural Special Education Quarterly*, 31(1), 15-21.
- Muller, E., & Markwoitz, J. (2003). Synthesis brief: Supply and demand of special education professionals. ED 478561. Retrieved December 16, 2007, from ERIC Database.
- Munir, S., & Khatoon, T. (2015). Job Satisfaction Scale. *International Journal of Multidisciplinary Research and Development*, 2(8), 454-457.
- Netemeyer, R. G., Bearden, W. O., & Sharma, S. (2003). *Scaling procedures*. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications Ltd doi: 10.4135/9781412985772
- Nichols S, Bicard S, Bicard D, Casey L. (2008). A field at risk: The teacher shortage in special education. *Phi Delta Kappan*. 89, 597–600.
- Orr, A. C. (2009). New special educators reflect about inclusion: Preparation and K-12 current practice. *Journal of Ethnographic & Qualitative Research*, 3(4), 228-239.
- Oyler, C. (2011). Teacher preparation for inclusive and critical (special) education. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 34(3), 201-218.

- Parise, L. M., & Spillane J. P. (2010). Teacher learning and instructional change: how formal and on-the-job learning opportunities predict change in elementary school teachers' practice. *Elementary School Journal*, 110(3), 323-346.
- Pipho, C. (1998). A real teacher shortage. Phi Delta Kappan, 80(3), 181–182.
- Plash, S., & Piotrowski, C. (2006). Retention issues: A study of Alabama special education teachers. *Education*, *127*(1), 125-128.
- Reutzel, D., & Clark, S. (2011). Organizing literacy classrooms for effective instruction. *Reading Teacher*, 65(2), 96-109.
- Roberts, C. (2004). The dissertation journey: A practical and comprehensive guide to planning, writing, and defending your dissertation. Thousand Oaks, CA: Corwin Press.
- Sands, D., Duffield, J. A., & Parsons, B. (2006). Evaluating infused content in a merged special education and general education teacher preparation program. *Action in Teacher Education*, 28(4), 92-103.
- Sarason, S. (1982). The culture of the school and the problem of change. Boston: Allyn & Bacon.
- Scott, T. M. (2017). Training classroom management with preservice special education teachers: Special education challenges in a general education world. *Teacher Education and Special Education*, 40(2) 97-101.

- Selke, M. (2001). The professional development of teachers in the United States of America: The practitioners' master's degree. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, 24(2), 205-214.
- Shepherd, K. G., Fowler, S. McCormick, J., Wilson, Cynthia, & Morgan, D. (2016) The search for role clarity: Challenges and implications for Special Education

  Teacher Preparation. *Teacher Education and Special Education* 39(2), 83-97.
- Simpson, S. H. (2011). Demystifying the research process: Mixed methods. *Pediatric Nursing*, *37*(1), 28-29.
- Siskin, L. S. (1991). Departments as different worlds: Subject subcultures in secondary schools. *Educational Administration Quarterly*, 27(2), 134–169.
- Smith, T., & Ingersoll, R. (2004). What are the effects of induction and mentoring on beginning teacher turnover? *American Educational Research Journal*, 41, 681-684.
- Stainback, S., & Stainback, W. C. (1987). Facilitating merger through personnel preparation. *Teacher Education and Special Education*. *10*(4), 185-190.
- Stempien, L. R., & Loeb, R. C. (2002). Differences in job satisfaction between general education teachers and special education teachers: Implications for retention.

  \*Remedial and Special Education, 23, 258-267.
- Stodolsky, S. S. (1988). The subject matters: Classroom activity in math and social studies. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

- Stodolsky, S. S., & Grossman, P. L. (1995). The impact of subject matter on curricular activity: An analysis of five academic subjects. *American Educational Research Journal*, 32, 227-249.
- Sutton, G. W., & Huberty, T. J. (1984). An evaluation of teacher stress and job satisfaction. *Education*, *105*, 189–192.
- Swider, B. W., & Zimmerman, R. D. (2010). Born to burnout: A meta-analytic path model of personality, job burnout, and work outcomes. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 76, 487–506.
- Tabachnick, B.G., & Fidell, L.S. (2006). *Using multivariate statistics* (5<sup>th</sup> ed.). New York: Harper Collins.
- Thomas, Gary. (2009) *How to do your research project*. Sage Publications: London, United Kingdom.
- Thorndike, R. M. (1997). *Measurement and evaluation in psychology and education* (6<sup>th</sup> ed.). Upper Saddle River, NJ: Prentice-Hall.
- Thornton, B., Peltier, G., & Medina, R. (2007). Reducing the special education teacher shortage. *The Clearing House*, 80(5), 223-238.
- Vanderstoep, S.W., & Johnston, D.D. (2009). Research methods for everyday life:

  Blending qualitative and quantitative approaches. San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass.
- Villegas-Reimers, E. (2003). *Teacher professional development: An international review of the literature*. Paris, France: IIEP-UNESCO.

- Wang, H., Hall, N. C., & Rahimi, S. (2015). Self-efficacy and causal attributions in teachers: Effects of burnout, job satisfaction, illness, and quitting intentions. *Teaching and Teacher Education*, 47, 120-130.
- Wasburn-Moses, L. (2005). How to keep your special education teachers. *Principal Leadership*, 5(5), 35-38.
- Westling, D.L., & Whitten, T.M. (1996). Rural special education teachers' plans to continue or leave their teaching positions. *Exceptional Children*, 62, 319-335.
- White, C., Fox, R. K., & Isenberg, J. P. (2011). Investigating teachers' professional learning in an advanced master's degree programme. *European Journal of Teacher Education*, *34*(4), 387-405. doi:10.1080/02619768.2011.587115
- Wilson, S. M., & Berne, J. (1999). Teacher learning and the acquisition of professional knowledge: An examination of research on contemporary professional development. *Review of Research in Education*, 24, 173–209.
- Yong, A.G., & Pearce, S. (2013). A beginners guide to factor analysis: focusing on exploratory factor analysis. *Tutorials in Qualitative Methods for Psychology*, 9(2), 79-94
- Zascavage, V., Masten, W. G., Schroeder-Steward, J., & Nichols, C. (2007). Comparison of critical thinking in undergraduates and graduates in special education. *International Journal of Special Education*, 22(1), 25-31.

### Appendix A

### COPY of Email Invitation to Participate

Dear Special Education Teacher,

I am a special education facilitator/coach for Special School District in St. Louis County in Missouri and a current doctoral student at University of Missouri-St. Louis. I am working on my research to complete my doctoral requirements, which is centered around teacher satisfaction levels.

I am inviting you to participate by completing an online survey, which our field-testing found takes an average of under 5 minutes to complete. The survey contains opinion questions and requests some demographic information. Your voluntary participation will be completely anonymous. By clicking on the link at the end of this email, you agree to participate in this study.

#### Research Questionnaire

- 1. Please enter your bachelor(s) degree(s) area(s): (e.g., Elementary Education, Teaching Social Science-Secondary)
  [Text box]
- 2. If you have a master's degree, please indicate area(s). (Leave blank if none). [Text box]
- 3. If you have an educational specialist degree, please indicate area(s). (Leave blank if none).

[Text box]

4. If you have a doctoral degree, please indicate type (Leave blank if none). (e.g/., Ph.D. E.D.)

[Text box]

Please list the doctoral degree area. (Leave blank if none).

[Text box]

5. Please indicate the areas of **general education certification(s)** you possess. List multiple if applicable.

[Text box]

6. Please indicate the area(s) of **general education certification(s**) you possess (from list above) that was/were granted from only taking a educational test such as the Praxis, and not from a college or university preparation program [Text box]

7. Did you work as a Paraprofessional or teacher	r assistant prior to working as a ce	rtified
teacher?		
(Check box)		

Yes No

8. The following items allow you to comment on job satisfaction. Please respond to them using the following scale.

SD-strongly disagree

D-disagree

U- undecided

A- agree

SA- strongly agree

	SD	D	U	A	SA
Teaching provides me with an opportunity to advance professionally.					
Teaching provides an opportunity to use a variety of skills.					
Teaching provides for a secure future.					
I receive full recognition for my successful teaching.					
I get along well with my colleagues.					
Working conditions in my school are comfortable.					
Teaching provides me with the opportunity to help my students learn.					
I like the people with whom I work.					
Teaching is very interesting work.					
My colleagues stimulate me to do better work.					
Teaching provides an opportunity for promotion.					
My colleagues provide me with suggestions or feedback about my teaching.					
Teaching encourages me to be creative.					
The work of a teacher is pleasant.					
Teaching provides a good opportunity for advancement.					

	My interests are similar to those of my colleagues.					
	I have made lasting friendships among my colleagues.					
	Working conditions in my school are good.					
	I get along well with my students.					
	9. Please Indicate Your Current Professional Setting Check box Resource Self-contained Co-teaching Facilitator/Coach					
	Other [Text box]					
	10. Please Indicate Your Years of Professional Teaching Experience not including teaching assistant, paraprofessional and other non-teacheck box					_
	1-5 6-10 11-15 16-20 21-25 26-30 31+					
	11. Please check the following descriptors that BEST describe the syou work. (You may check more than one.) Check box Socio-Economic Statuslowmiddlehighmultiple schools or districts with various status	studer	nts w	vith	who	m
	Schools in which you Work  elementary middle high multiple levels					
,	This last section contains demographic questions concerning yours	elf.				
	Gender (optional)Male					

\_\_\_Female

\_\_\_Prefer not to answer

Ethnicity (optional)
African American
Asian
Caucasian
Native American or Alaska Native
Native Hawaiian or Other Pacific Islander
Other
Multiple Ethnicities
Prefer Not to Answer
After survey is completelink to:
If you would like to enter your first name and email address for a chance to win a \$25
dollar gift card, please do so here: (this information will not be able to be traced to your
answers)
Link
[Text box]